FILED
Court of Appeals
Division II
State of Washington
8/29/2022 4:32 PM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 8/30/2022 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

Court of Appeals No. 55371-6-II

101222-5

#### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

VIKING JV, LLC,

Petitioner,

v.

#### CITY OF PUYALLUP,

Respondent.

### VIKING JV, LLC'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

GORDON THOMAS HONEYWELL William T. Lynn, WSBA No. 7887 blynn@gth-law.com Reuben Schutz, WSBA No. 44767 rschutz@gth-law.com Attorneys for Appellants Viking JV, LLC

1201 Pacific Avenue, Suite 2100 Tacoma, WA 98401-1157 (253) 620-6500

##

#### I. INTRODUCTION

This appeal concerns whether a city may adopt procedures under its code to adjust a system development charge ("SDC"), and, if so, whether it may apply its own code in a "gaming" fashion that denies an owner their appeal rights.

The City of Puyallup ("City") adopted a process under its code to challenge the "correctness" of an SDC charge. Nothing in the authorizing statute, RCW 35.92.035, or the case law interpreting the statue, limits a city's ability to make such an adjustment. The City's Public Works Director—with input from the City Attorney and expert consultants—determined there were grounds under the code to make an adjustment to the SDC assessed to Viking JV, LLC ("Viking"). But, after making this determination, the Director informed Viking it would only receive this justifiable equitable adjustment if it abandoned its appeal rights. The City presented equity as a take-it-or-leave-it option. If Viking did not waive their appeal rights, the City would assess the much higher SDC charge.

Remarkably, after Viking exercised its right to appeal the determination (seeking a further adjustment), the City argued to the Hearing Examiner that it never had the authority to make the adjustment in the first place. The Hearing Examiner correctly concluded that the City's code "does not grant the Director authority to participate in this kind of legal gamesmanship." Having made its code-required determination, the City must live with the adjustment.

This case involves an issue of public importance. Both the Appellate Hearing Examiner ("AHE") and the Court of Appeals read into RCW 35.92.025 a limitation that does not exist. Moreover, the Court of Appeals overextended the holding in *Westridge-Issaquah II, LP, v. City of Issaquah*, 20 Wn. App.2d 344, 500 P.3d 157 (2021), to restrict a city from making an equitable adjustment to an SDC under its code.

<sup>1</sup> Clerk's Papers ("CP") at 1340.

RCW 35.92.025 may not *require* a local jurisdiction to make an individualized assessment and adjust an SDC. But it also does not limit a local jurisdiction from making an adjustment. The AHE and Court of Appeals were wrong in concluding that it does. Once a city makes such an adjustment under its code, it cannot resort to legal gamesmanship to condition its determination and then withdraw it when an owner pursues its rights.

#### II. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner is Viking JV, LLC.

## III. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Viking seeks review of the Opinion of the Court of Appeals, Division II filed on June 14, 2022 ("Opinion"). A copy of Division II's Opinion is attached as Appendix A.

#### IV. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

**A.** The Appellate Hearing Examiner concluded that the City's Public Works Director had no authority under the City's Code or RCW 35.92.025 to make any adjustment to a storm

water SDC. But the code explicitly provides for an administrative appeal process for the Director to evaluate the "correctness" of an SDC, with further appeal to the City Council, and neither RCW 35.92.025 nor any case law limits this authority. Moreover, the City Director in this case, with input from the City Attorney and City's expert-consultants who created the methodology for the SDCs, interpreted the code to provide for such authority and determined an adjustment was needed, finding Viking's case "unique." Given this, did the AHE err in concluding that the Director and the City Attorney were wrong, and the Director's review authority under the City Code was limited to doing basic arithmetic?

**B.** When the Director made an equitable adjustment to the SDC, he made it contingent on Viking relinquishing its codified right to appeal. The Hearing Examiner concluded that nothing in the code permitted the Director to impose such a contingency and that doing so amounted to "legal gamesmanship." The AHE, however, equated the contingency to

a "plea bargain" agreement in a criminal trial and reversed the Hearing Examiner on this issue. Was this conclusion by the AHE clearly erroneous?

C. While under the Land Use Petition Act ("LUPA") the Court's review would be of the AHE's decision, the Court of Appeals' Opinion (even unpublished) will be looked to as persuasive authority on a matter of first impression. Did the Court of Appeals err by overextending the holding in *Westridge-Issaquah II, LP, v. City of Issaquah*, to restrict a city from ever making an equitable adjustment to an SDC?

#### V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Viking owns property in Puyallup on which it recently built a warehouse. The property is unique, and the City so found, because it is located in a discrete stormwater basin at the edge of the City. Viking discharges all of its stormwater directly into the Puyallup River through an outfall it constructed. Notably, at the time Viking developed its property, there were no stormwater

facilities in this area other than a series of agricultural ditches so there was nothing for Viking to "connect" to.

The City required Viking to build a stormwater system for the entire basin, even though Viking's property accounts for only 17 percent of the total basin area,<sup>2</sup> and then dedicate it to the City.<sup>3</sup> This required Viking to significantly oversize its storm water trunk lines (double the size) and to build storm trunk lines and stub connections that only serve other, future development.<sup>4</sup> The direct cost to Viking to build this system was over \$3,000,000<sup>5</sup>—*twice* what Viking would have had to spend to build a system that accounts only for the runoff attributable to its property.<sup>6</sup> The City required Viking to bear that public burden—an additional \$1.5 million to accommodate stormwater for the entire basin.<sup>7</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Transcript ("Tr.") at 899:8-900:7.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Tr. at 928:2-929:16; 930:2-19; 879:7-880:17.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Tr. at :7-23.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Tr. at 943:17-946:5; Tr. at 945:4-9.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Tr. at 910:7-911:6.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Tr. at 881:15-20.

Viking, in paying for additional infrastructure, reasonably believed it would be credited, in some form, for the extra cost of building a stormwater system designed to accommodate the runoff of others. Instead of issuing a credit, however, the City assessed an SDC in the amount of \$997,282 with no offset and no recognition of the unique circumstances. Viking paid the entire amount of the SDC to the City and, following the City's protest procedures, timely submitted a written protest of the assessment. The City's Code at that time provided that:

Upon receipt of any such protest, the public works director or a designee *shall*, within 15 calendar days, make a determination in writing as to the correctness of the fee or charge.

Former Puyallup Municipal Code (PMC) 14.26.080 (emphasis added).8

The City's former Public Works Director, Robert Andreotti—with direct input from the consultants who authored the rate study that forms the basis for the City's SDC system—

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> As discussed below, the Code was later amended.

provided a Final Director's Determination on May 24, 2019. In it, Mr. Andreotti recognized that the SDC must be reasonable and equitable, and noted:

The challenge with any "unique" parcel review is determining the level of benefit and the final decision will always require some level of judgment on the part of the City. <sup>10</sup>

After recognizing that "[c]redits or discounts against a stormwater SDC may be appropriate under certain conditions," Mr. Andreotti continued:

The first question in evaluating Viking's request is to determine if the parcel is sufficiently "unique" to warrant consideration of a credit or discount on the assessed SDCs. *The answer is a qualified "yes"* because the characteristic which makes this parcel different and unique from other City parcels assessed a stormwater SDC is that the run-off from the parcel drains directly into a body of water and does not directly utilize the City's stormwater system.

. . . .

[F]ollowing examination of the unique attributes of the parcel I am convinced that this site may arguably justify an equitable adjustment of the standard SDC calculation.<sup>11</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> CP at 1306-1316.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> CP at 1313.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> CP at 1314 (emphasis added).

Having made this determination, Mr. Andreotti applied a total discount of 39 percent for an adjusted SDC of \$571,234.<sup>12</sup>

Incredibly, based on direction from the City Attorney, 13 the Director made this adjustment contingent upon Viking waiving its right to appeal the Determination:

This determination is contingent upon Viking accepting this equitable and discretionary adjustment as the final determination without further appeal or protest. In the event Viking does not accept this adjustment this determination will be automatically withdrawn, and the City will, among other points, rely on Viking's failure to protest and appeal in a timely manner as a basis to deny any adjustment of the SDC.<sup>14</sup>

Under the City's code, PMC 14.26.080, Viking had an absolute right to appeal the Director's determination. Former PMC 14.26.080(3) specifically stated that:

If the customer is dissatisfied with the decision, the customer may appeal to the city council provided

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> CP at 1316.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> Tr. at 1052:3-1053:19.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> CP at 1316. At the Hearing Examiner hearing, the City conceded that Viking's protest was timely, Tr. at 1015:20-1016:9, and the City abandoned the issue by not raising it before the AHE, CP at 141-145.

such appeal is filed within 10 calendar days of receipt of the public works department's decision.<sup>15</sup>

Nothing in the code permitted the Director to make his determination contingent on Viking waiving its right to appeal under PMC 14.26.080(3). And nothing in the code permitted the City to withdraw its Director's determination. Yet, when Viking exercised its right of appeal, the City contended that it had withdrawn the Director's Determination and reestablished the \$997,282 amount.

An open record hearing before the City's Hearing Examiner was held on September 4, 2019, and on October 16, 2019, the Hearing Examiner issued his decision. At the hearing, the City shifted its position. The City Attorney paradoxically argued that the Director never had the authority to make an adjustment in the first place, and that the required May 24, 2019 Director's Determination was not really a determination at all,

<sup>15</sup> Though appeals under Former PMC 14.26.080(3) were to the City Council, in this case the Council voted to refer Viking's appeal to the Hearing Examiner.

but rather a settlement offer. <sup>16</sup> This is of course ridiculous, as the May 24, 2019 determination states that it is the "City of Puyallup Final Director's Determination" and the Director in it writes that:

This protest is being processed pursuant to Puyallup Municipal Code Sec. 14.26.080, under which I am to make a written determination regarding the 'the correctness of the fee or charge' relative to the calculated SDC and this protest.<sup>17</sup>

The Examiner determined that the City's Director *did* have the authority to adjust the SDC assessment. <sup>18</sup> The Examiner further determined that the City had no authority to condition the equitable adjustment on an appellant abandoning their appeal rights, stating:

The governing statute related to SDCs, RCW 35.92.025, does not account for this kind of discretion and, <u>further</u>, <u>PMC 14.26.080 does not grant the Director authority to participate in this kind of legal gamesmanship</u>. <sup>19</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> Tr. at 867:3-16.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> CP at 1306.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> CP at 1340.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> CP at 1340 (emphasis added).

Ultimately, the Hearing Examiner ruled that that the City's 39 percent reduction of the SDC was appropriate.<sup>20</sup>

The appellate examiner provisions of the code require parties who disagree with a hearing examiner decision to petition for yet *another* administrative appeal to a second appellate examiner, whose decision then, under the City's imposed framework, becomes final unless a valid LUPA petition is filed in Superior Court. *See* PMC 2.54.150-.170. Believing a further reduction was warranted, Viking timely submitted a petition for appellate examiner review. The City separately appealed the Hearing Examiner's final decision to the AHE, effectively seeking to have its own Director's determination declared illegal and reinstatement of the entire SDC amount.

The AHE ruled that the Director had no authority to reduce the SDC by 39 percent, despite the code provision allowing a protest and determination. Without any citation of authority, the

<sup>20</sup> CP at 1340.

AHE also ruled the Director could condition its determination to deny appeal rights in a kind of "plea bargain" type agreement, apparently equating SDC charges to criminal penalties and ignoring Viking submitted a code-authorized appeal, not a plea offer.<sup>21</sup> The AHE overturned the assessment of \$571,234 and reinstated an assessment of \$997,280. Viking appealed the AHE's decision under LUPA.<sup>22</sup>

On October 21, 2020, Pierce County Superior Court Judge Chushcoff reversed the AHE's decision to the extent the AHE overturned the Hearing Examiner's decision. He otherwise upheld the Hearing Examiner's decision, including the SDC amount of \$571,234.

Viking timely appealed and the City cross-appealed, challenging the Superior Court's order reversing the AHE's decision to reinstate the \$997,280 amount.

The Court of Appeals upheld the AHE's decision in its

<sup>22</sup> Pierce County Cause No. 20-2-04697-9.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> CP at 1298.

entirety, concluding, based on *Westridge-Issaquah II, LP v. City of Issaquah*, that not only does RCW 35.92.025 not *require* a city to make an equitable adjustment, but a city may not make an adjustment even if its code explicitly provides for such a process:

No individualized assessment or equitable adjustment was permitted by state law.<sup>23</sup>

#### VI. ARGUMENT IN SUPPORT OF REVIEW

#### A. RAP 13.4

This petition presents an issue of substantial public interest. Guidance is needed from this Court regarding the ability of a local jurisdiction to make an adjustment to an SDC under RCW 35.92.020. That statute grants the authority for local jurisdictions to assess SDCs in Washington. All SDCs are assessed under that authority. Many jurisdictions provide for appeal procedures for discretionary adjustments to SDC amounts. *See, e.g.*, Spokane Municipal Code 13.04.2042.E.3 ("The charge for water connection can be adjusted ... for other

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> Opinion at 30.

sound considerations of fairness, as determined by the Director of Public Works."); *see also* Seattle Municipal Code 21.33.50; Vancouver Municipal Code 14.04.235; Everett Municipal Code 14.08.135.F; Olympia Municipal Code 13.16.130.

The Court of Appeals upheld the AHE's decision that a local jurisdiction is prohibited from making any equitable adjustment based the circumstances of the case. Effectively all of these codified adjustment processes are made questionable by the Court of Appeals decision.

There is no case law on this specific issue. Other cases discuss whether an individualized assessment is required under RCW 35.92.025, see e.g., Westridge-Issaquah II, LP v. City of Issaquah, but none have addressed whether the statute prohibits a local jurisdiction from making a voluntary adjustment to an SDC under its code. Though the Court of Appeals decision is not published, it may be cited as persuasive authority under GR 14.1(a).

This is an issue that will affect many Washington cities, towns, and property owners. Guidance under RAP 13.4(b)(4) is therefore warranted. Presumably the City agrees, as evidenced by its motion to publish.

## B. The City's Code Provides Authority to Adjust SDCs

Under former PMC 14.26.080(1), a party aggrieved by an SDC may file an official protest. The code stated that:

Upon receipt of any such protest, the public works director or a designee shall, within 15 calendar days, make a determination in writing as to the correctness of the fee or charge.

Former PMC 14.26.080(2). Further,

If the customer is dissatisfied with the decision, the customer may appeal to the city council provided such appeal is field within 10 days of receipt of the public works department's decision.

Former PMC 14.26.080(3).

The AHE and the Court of Appeals interpreted this to mean that the role of the Director in this appeal process is limited to doing simple arithmetic. This makes no practical sense and is not supported by the code's plain language, the Director's own interpretation, or the City's appeal procedures.

First, the term "correctness" is undefined in the code, but the dictionary definition of correctness is broad. It includes "the quality of being just or right in a judgment or opinion."<sup>24</sup> This is consistent with the statutory requirements under RCW 35.92.025, which authorizes cities to assess SDCs that are "reasonable" and "equitable." The plain language does not support the idea that the Director may only check the math. Rather, the Director is tasked with determining if the SDC is "just or right" under the authorizing statute, RCW 35.92.025. This is a safety valve according to those closest to it—i.e., the Director and City Attorney. The opportunity to fine tune was part of the Director's authority and analysis, just like a variance provides escape from one-size-fits-all zoning provisions or a deviation from building/road standards. The City may never have adopted

<sup>24</sup> Oxford English Dictionary (Correctness).

the SDC charges without that safety valve. To make it absolute is a big step and inconsistent with the City's own interpretation.

Second, the City's own actions belie its later arguments. The Director, with input from the authors of the City's SDC rate study, interpreted "determining the correctness" of the SDC to mean ensuring that the SDC is implemented consistent with state law under a "rational nexus test." According to the Director, an analysis must be made as to:

[W]hether the SDC assessed against a specific parcel is reasonably proportionate to the benefit it receives. All SDCs are often structured for ease of administration and assumes that all parcels are reasonably homogenous. In that way, the \$/ESU may be reasonably assessed and administered against a range of parcels....

The challenge with any "unique" parcel review is determining the level of benefit and the final decision will always require some level of judgment on the part of the City.<sup>26</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> CP at 2445.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> CP at 2446-2447 (emphasis added).

The Director clearly states that determining the SDC's correctness is *not* merely a math problem:

Typically, for a storm water utility, the assessment method is on a \$/[Equivalent Service Unit] ESU for impervious area/hard surfaces....

The above example of assessment seems relatively simple and straight-forward, which it normally is for the vast majority of parcels/customers. However, there are certain situations and conditions which may require judgment and a policy decision on the part of the City.

. . .

The first question in evaluating Viking's request is to determine if the parcel is sufficiently "unique" to warrant consideration of a credit or discount on the assessed SDCs. *The answer is a qualified "yes"*....

. . .

[F]ollowing examination of the unique attributes of the parcel I am convinced that this site may arguably justify an equitable adjustment of the standard SDC calculation.<sup>27</sup>

The City's interpretation of "correctness" changed only when it served the City for litigation purposes. Here, the Court should give weight to the City's official interpretation in the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> CP at 2442-2447 (emphasis added).

Director's Determination that was made *prior* to the City's subsequent self-serving reversal once the Determination was appealed. *Sleasman v. City of Lacey*, 159 Wn.2d 639, 646, 151 P.3d 990 (2007). *See also, Hama Hama Co. v. Shorelines Hearings Bd.*, 85 Wn.2d 441, 536 P.2d 157 (1975).

Third, the idea that determining the "correctness" of an SDC requires only simple math—a few moments with a calculator—does not make sense under the City's appeal procedures and it is not consistent with the City's actions. If determining the correctness of the SDC only required checking the math, why did the City "hir[e] a consultant at the City's expense to review the SDC as applied to Viking" in order "to determine if there is a data-driven reduction that can be applied [to] the SDC"?<sup>28</sup> Moreover, if an owner is dissatisfied with the Director's Determination, they may appeal the decision to the City Council. *See* former PMC 14.26.080(3). Why would the

<sup>28</sup> CP at 2425.

code provide for City Council oversight to review a simple and basic math equation? This does not make sense and interpretations that yield "absurd" results must be avoided. *State v. Keller*, 143 Wn.2d 267, 276, 19 P.3d 1030 (2001).

Fourth, the City tellingly changed the code *directly after* the Hearing Examiner hearing in this case to add the language that it improperly wants the Court to read into the former code. The code now reads (with the new language underlined below):

Upon receipt of any such protest, the public works director or a designee shall, within 15 calendar days, make a determination in writing as to the correctness of the fee or charge. The director's determination shall be limited to considering whether the fee is correctly calculated. Any adjustment proposed by the director for any other purpose must be approved by the city council.

PMC 14.26.080(2).<sup>29</sup> "There is a presumption, well established, that a new legislative enactment is an amendment rather than a clarification of existing law." *Johnson v. Morris*, 87 Wn.2d 922,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> The Hearing Examiner's decision was dated October 16, 2019, and the above language was added to the code on December 10, 2019.

926, 557 P.2d 1299 (1976). The underlined language did not exist at the time of Viking's protest and the Director's Determination and courts cannot add words or clauses to a code provision that are not there. *Henley v. Henley*, 95 Wn. App. 91, 97-98, 974 P.2d 362 (1999).

The AHE ignored *all* of the above when he concluded that the Director had no authority under the code to make the adjustment to the SDC.<sup>30</sup> Instead, the AHE summarily concluded that determining the "correctness" of an SDC can only involve checking the math and stated that:

Obviously, the authority to determine correctness does not include the power to make an equitable adjustment; they are opposite."<sup>31</sup>

They are not opposites. The statute requires that SDCs be "reasonable" and "equitable," and under Former PMC 14.26.080

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup> CP at 1284-1289.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> The AHE also concluded that an adjustment to an SDC would likely be an "illegal gift or loan/credit from the City" in violation of the Washington Constitution." CP 1285. But the City has provided SDC credits before and does not consider them to be illegal gifts. *See* CP at 1513-1514.

the City Council provided the Director with the authority to determine the "correctness" of an assessed SDC correctly complied with the statutory mandate.

The AHE's conclusion that the Director could only check the math formed the basis for his reinstatement of the \$997,280 SDC amount<sup>32</sup> and was erroneous.

# C. No Legal Authority prohibits a City from Adjusting an SDC

The AHE and the Court of Appeals determined that RCW 35.92.025 does not "require" cities to make an equitable adjustment. Viking does not seek review of that issue. However, both went further and determined that no equitable adjustment is "permitted" by state law.<sup>33</sup> There is no authority for this legal assertion.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup> CP at 1284-1290.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>33</sup> See Opinion at 30; CP at 1284.

First, RCW 35.92.025 imposes no limitation on a local jurisdiction adopting procedures for adjusting an SDC. The statute merely states that:

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