FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 11/30/2022 9:11 AM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

NO. 101222-5

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Viking JV, LCC,

Petitioner,

v.

City of Puyallup,

Respondent.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Peter J. Eglick, WSBA No. 8809 Joshua A. Whited, WSBA No. 30509 EGLICK & WHITED PLLC 1000 2nd Avenue, Suite 3130 Seattle, WA 98104-1069 (206) 441-1069 phone (206) 441-1089 fax Joseph N. Beck, WSBA No. 26789 City Attorney CITY OF PUYALLUP 333 South Meridian Puyallup, WA 98371 (253) 841-5598 phone (253) 770-3352 fax

Attorneys for Respondent City of Puyallup

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

III. ARGUMENT

RAP 13.4(b) provides:

(b) Considerations Governing Acceptance of Review. A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only: (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved;

or (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

RAP 13.4(b) (emphasis in original). There are no significant constitutional issues present here, and the Decision is not in conflict with any decision of this Court or any published decision of the Court of Appeals. Recognizing that review is clearly not warranted under the specific provisions of RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(3), Viking defaults to RAP 13.4(b)(4) only, arguing that its petition somehow generally involves an issue of substantial public interest. See PFR at 14, 16, 30. However, Viking's PFR devotes substantially more time to rearguing the merits of its appeal than it does explaining how it presents an actual issue of substantial public interest worthy of Supreme Court review. Viking also misconstrues the Court of Appeals Decision and its reasoning, attempting to manufacture "public interest" where there is none.

For all of the reasons discussed further below, Viking's PFR should be denied.

A. Individualized Adjustment of SDCs is Not Permitted Under State Law, *i.e.*, RCW 35.92.025, Consistent with Division I's Decision in *Westridge-Issaquah II*.

Viking argues that the Court of Appeals erroneously relied on *Westridge-Issaquah II* and incorrectly concluded that no equitable adjustment is permitted by state law. PFR at 23-26. In doing so, Viking emphasizes that it is not seeking review of the conclusion that RCW 35.92.025 does not "require" an equitable adjustment, but instead is seeking review of the conclusion that no equitable adjustment is "permitted" by state law, *i.e.*, RCW 35.92.025. PFR at 23; PFR at 25-26, fn. 34. However, both conclusions are correct consistent with the plain language of RCW 35.92.025 and *Westridge-Issaquah II*.

Nowhere in RCW 35.92.025, or chapter 35.92 RCW generally, is there any mention of equitable or individualized adjustments to SDCs. Thus, under the plain language of the statute, there are no equitable or individualized adjustments either "required" or "permitted."

As explained in Westridge-Issaquah II:

Under RCW 35.92.025, "the only requirements placed on [cities] are that the charge is reasonable and that [cities] base[] these charges on the equitable cost of their [utility] system." *Palermo*, 147 Wn. App. at 79. Additionally, "the fundamental basis on which the fee is to be calculated... is not that of the benefit received but merely an equitable sharing of the cost of the system." *Boe*, 66 Wn.2d at 156.

Westridge-Issaquah II, LP v. City of Issaquah, 20 Wn. App. 2d 344, 366-67, 500 P.3d 157, 168 (2021).

In Westridge-Issaquah II, as in this case, a developer challenged the assessment of connection charges against their particular property under RCW 35.92.025, but the developer did not argue the ordinance or underlying rate study was invalid. The Westridge-Issaquah II court emphasized that to successfully challenge an assessment under RCW 35.92.025, a party must provide evidence that the basis on which the ordinance establishes the fee is not the proper basis authorized by the statute. Id. at 368. It went on to explain:

The statute requires connection charges established by ordinance to be "reasonable" such that "property *owners* shall bear *their* equitable share of the cost of' the city's utility system. RCW 35.92.025 (emphasis added). This language contemplates the equitable share of property owners as a class, not what is equitable to charge an individual property owner based on that particular owner's impact on the city utility system.

Id. (emphasis in original).

The court unequivocally concluded that a developer cannot challenge assessments under RCW 35.92.025 "solely as they apply to its particular properties." *Id.* at 369. If an assessment ordinance is properly challenged and it is unreasonable, the remedy is to invalidate the enacting ordinance in its entirety, not to simply invalidate charges as they apply to a specific property. *Id.* Further, the court rejected the argument that RCW 35.92.025 connection charges are required, under RCW 82.02.020, to be proportionate to the share of the utility systems' costs attributable to the developer's property. *Id.* at 369-70.

The Court of Appeals Decision here correctly relies on Westridge-Issaquah II in concluding that individualized assessments and equitable adjustments are not required or permitted under state law. See Decision at 25-30 (discussing Westridge-Issaquah II and other authorities at length and concluding: "Under a correct interpretation of RCW 35.92.025, it was proper to impose a system development charge calculated according to the terms of the City's municipal code. No individualized assessment or equitable adjustment was permitted by state law.").

B. The City's Code Also Does Not Permit Individualized Adjustment of SDCs.

Viking's asserts that state law sets a ceiling on what a city may charge, but that it "leaves room for a city to adopt a variance/deviation type procedure to adjust an individual SDC." PFR at 24. And it argues that the effect of the Court of Appeals Decision is to prohibit cities "from any equitable adjustment based on the circumstances of the case," thereby calling into

question provisions adopted by other cities that Viking contends allow for such adjustments. PFR at 15. Thus, according to Viking, this matter presents an issue of substantial public interest with regard to tying other cities' hands. PFR at 14-15. However, to create a "substantial public interest" issue where none exists, Viking's argument ignores what Division II actually held.

The Court of Appeals in this case did not conclude its analysis after deciding that RCW 35.92.025 does not require or permit an equitable or individualized adjustment. Instead, immediately after reaching that conclusion, the Court of Appeals went on to determine the next logical question: whether an adjustment was authorized under the provisions of the Puyallup Municipal Code (PMC). Decision at 30-31. After considering the arguments of the parties, including the same arguments presented by Viking in its PFR to this Court, the Court of Appeals concluded that no individualized assessment or equitable adjustment is authorized by the PMC either:

Nor was it permitted by the City's code. The public works director calculated a reduced charge, but the City's code only authorized him to review the assessed development charge and "make a determination in writing as to the correctness of the ... charge." Former PMC 14.26.080(2) (1999). In other sections of the municipal code, the City expressly authorizes the director to exercise his reasonable discretion. For example, determining the appropriate reimbursement charge under a latecomer's agreement, the code provides that the charge "shall be based on the total project cost and figured on either a front-foot or area assessment basis or both at the reasonable discretion of the public works director." PMC 21.10.130(2) (emphasis added). PMC 14.26.080(2) did not similarly authorize use of "reasonable discretion." When read in conjunction with RCW 35.92.025 and contrasted with other provisions of the municipal code, it is clear that the director's role in determining "the correctness" of a charge was limited to verifying the underlying calculations and project details that informed the charge, such as the square feet of impervious surface that would be added to the City's storm water system.

Decision at 30-31 (emphasis in original).

Thus, in affirming the system development charge assessed against Viking, the Court of Appeals emphasized that its decision was not only based on RCW 35.92.025, but was both fact specific and dependent upon the City's code:

Washington law does not require an equitable adjustment based on the Viking project's specific characteristics or infrastructure contributions. Because the amount of impervious surface area that Viking is adding to the City is uncontested, the system development charge calculated based on that amount of surface area is supported by substantial evidence. Applying RCW 35.92.025 and the City's municipal code to these facts, the appellate examiner's decision was not clearly erroneous.

Decision at 31 (emphasis added).

C. There Are No Issues of Substantial Public Interest Raised That Warrant Supreme Court Review Under RAP 13.4(b).

As discussed above, Viking's "pitch" to this Court for review rests on a fundamental misconstruction of the Court of Appeals Decision, *i.e.* that it precludes cities from adopting code provisions that might allow for adjustments to system development charges and therefore calls into question provisions

adopted by other jurisdictions.² The Decision only construes what the Puyallup Code allows; it does not lay down any principles or rules that would preclude cities from adopting a different approach than that authorized by the Puyallup Code. Further, even if it did so, the Decision is unpublished and of no precedential value in any event.

Nor does this matter "concern whether a city may adopt procedures under its code to adjust a system development charge ("SDC") and, if so, whether it may apply its own code in a 'gaming' fashion that denies an owner their appeal rights." *See* PFR at 1.

_

² Viking only cites a few code provisions from other jurisdictions and actually quotes only one, using ellipses to redact key language. PFR at 14-15. Viking provides no real explanation or analysis of the provisions cited, some of which are quite detailed and voluminous. It is not clear that any of the cited provisions would authorize the kind of adjustment that Viking seeks here and Viking does not explain how they would.

Here, the Court of Appeals held that the City code does not authorize the adjustments demanded by Viking, and that based on the specific facts at issue, the system development charge assessed in the City's final decision was appropriate. Viking clearly disagrees with these conclusions, but that is not a basis for Supreme Court review.

The pragmatic proposal for a possible reduction that the City public works director initially made to break the logjam with Viking was beyond his authority, as determined by the City Appellate Hearing Examiner in the City's final, reviewable decision.³ That the public works director made his proposal contingent upon Viking not pursuing further appeals reflected a

³ See Decision at 24 ("The appellate examiner's decision is therefore the reviewable land use decision under LUPA. See RCW 36.70C.020(2). We review the appellate examiner's decision to reinstate the full \$997,280 system development charge and reject Viking's claim that the City 'engaged in unlawful procedure or failed to follow a prescribed process' in violation of RCW 36.70C.130(1)(a).")

pragmatic approach to solving a problem and moving on.

However, it is beside the point – the public works director did not have the authority under the Code to authorize the reduction regardless of the condition.

Viking is being assessed what it should be assessed and will therefore have to pay its fair share toward the City's system based on the amount of undisputed impervious surface area that Viking is adding to the City.

It is notable in this regard that the Court of Appeals not only held that the Puyallup Code simply did not authorize SDC adjustments, but also went on to conclude "that there is substantial evidence in the record to support the appellate examiner's conclusion that Viking benefits from the City's stormwater system." Decision at 31. Accordingly, even assuming that an adjustment could have been made, Viking did not demonstrate that the assessment was unreasonable and an adjustment was called for. *See* Decision at 32.

There is no gamesmanship and the City is not being "rewarded." Viking simply must pay what the Code requires.

Finally, no appeal rights have been denied. Viking has now had four appeals, including two before City hearing examiners, one before the superior court, and one in the Court of Appeals. Denial of Viking's appeals on their merits is not synonymous with deprivation of Viking's appeal rights.

IV. CONCLUSION

For all of the above reasons, the Court should deny Viking's PFR.

///

///

///

///

///

///

///

///

I certify that this Answer is in 14-point Times New Roman font and contains 2,435 words, in compliance with the Rules of Appellate Procedure. RAP 18.17(b).